STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

**RECEIVED**

**Mar 15 2024**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Charleston County

Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

---

ANTONIO O. SIMMONS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001091

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
PURSUANT TO AUSTIN V. STATE

---

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find that the guilty plea was rendered involuntary by plea counsel's failure to object and move to withdraw the plea when the plea judge refused to sentence in accordance with the negotiated sentencing range and instead sentenced Petitioner to an increased but suspended sentence?

## STATEMENT

In December of 2014, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Antonio Orlando Simmons, for five counts of armed robbery, indictments #2014-GS-10-0711, 07123, 07142, 07145, 07147. (App. pp. 42-51). On March 20, 2018, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis and pled guilty pursuant to a negotiated sentencing range between seventeen (17) and twenty-eight (28) years. Michael Apicella represented Petitioner. David Osborne prosecuted the case. On the lead indictment, #2014-GS-10-0711, Judge Dennis sentenced Petitioner to thirty (30) years, provided upon the service of eighteen (18) years the balance was suspended. (App. p. 52). Judge Dennis sentenced Petitioner to eighteen (18) years concurrent on the remaining indictments. (App. pp. 53-56). Petitioner did not file a notice of intent to appeal.

On September 18, 2018, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief [PCR]. (App. pp. 57- 63). The State filed a return and motion for more definite statement on January 10, 2019. (App. pp.64-70). On July 23, 2019, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles. Christopher L. Murphy represented Petitioner. Jacob A. Isenberg represented the State. In a written order filed October 1, 2019, Judge Nettles granted relief in part and dismissed in part. (App. pp. 129 – 141). Judge Nettles found that the suspended sentence for the lead indictment was illegal and remanded for re-sentencing. PCR counsel did not file a notice of intent to appeal.

On December 10, 2019, Petitioner filed a second PCR application requesting an “Austin hearing.” (App. pp. 168-175). On January 10, 2020, prior to the State filing the return to the second PCR application, Petitioner appeared before Judge Dennis for re-sentencing pursuant to Judge Nettles’ order. (App. pp. 142-165). Christopher R. Geel represented Petitioner. David L.

Osborne represented the State. Instead of re-sentencing only on the lead indictment where the sentence was found to be illegal, Judge Dennis re-sentenced Petitioner to twenty-eight (28) years concurrent for all five indictments. (App. p. 166). A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed. On October 22, 2021, however, Petitioner signed an affidavit asking to drop the direct appeal. On February 9, 2022, the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal.

On February 22, 2021, over a year after Petitioner filed the second PCR application, the State filed a return and motion to dismiss. (App. pp. 176-182). On November 3, 2022, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein. James K. Falk represented Petitioner. Samantha J. Weidauer represented the State. This second PCR hearing was limited to the belated appeal and did not address re-sentencing<sup>1</sup>. In a written order signed April 10, 2023, Judge Goodstein granted a belated PCR appeal pursuant to Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395 (1991) (App. pp. 230-233). A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on July 10, 2023. This petition for writ of certiorari pursuant to Austin and a separately filed petition for writ of certiorari follow.

---

<sup>1</sup> This Court should vacate the re-sentencing order on all five counts because the guilty plea was rendered involuntary by plea counsel's failure to object and move to withdraw the guilty plea when the judge refused to sentence in accordance with the negotiation entered with the State and instead sentenced Petitioner to an increased but suspended sentence.

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR judge erred in refusing to find that the guilty plea was rendered involuntary by plea counsel's failure to object and move to withdraw the plea when the plea judge refused to sentence in accordance with the negotiated sentencing range and instead sentenced Petitioner to an increased but suspended sentence.**

Pursuant to negotiations with the State for a sentencing range of seventeen (17) to twenty-eight (28) years, Petitioner pled guilty to five counts of armed robbery. At the plea the prosecutor told the judge, "The offer is a negotiated range to plead to five armed robberies, dismiss everything else, and the range will be 17 to 28 years." (App. p. 4, lines 12-14). The sentencing sheets reflect that the sentence was negotiated rather than recommended by the State. (App. pp. 52-56). The prosecutor also told the judge that Petitioner confessed to two of the armed robberies but the others individually might have been difficult to prosecute. (App. p. 22, lines 2-21).

Plea counsel advised the judge about Petitioner's significant mental issues. (App. p. 33, line 21 – p. 34, lines 1-8). Petitioner had previously been found not competent. (App. p. 5, line 24 – p. 6, lines 1-10). During the judge's colloquy he said, "And basically, so that I understand it, because it will deal with whether I accept it or not, the active time that I would impose would be between 17 and 28 years." (App. p. 13, line 23 – p. 14, line 1). The prosecutor said, "That's correct, Your Honor." (App. p. 14, line 2). When the prosecutor announced the negotiation earlier, however, he did not distinguish between active and suspended time. The judge then told Petitioner:

But it's important to me that it deals with active time, because I'm accepting this, and I just need to make sure of this because it allows me to do something in structuring the sentence that wouldn't necessarily require him to do more active time, but it will afford the opportunity for that, should something - - and I want to make a part of this community supervision, because as you've been aware, Mr. Simmons, that while these sentences will be concurrent and I will not impose any more active time than 28 years or less than 18 years, you understand that?

(App. p. 14, lines 3-13). Plea counsel did not question the judge about his references to active time. The judge asked Petitioner if he wanted the judge to accept the negotiated sentence. (App. p. 15, lines 20-21). The judge told Petitioner, “And that would be a concurrent sentence of no more than 28, no less than 18 on these seven – 17, excuse me, 17 years on these five; is that right?” (App. p. 15, line 23 – p. 16, line 1). Petitioner answered, “Yes, sir.” (App. p. 16, line 2).

The judge refused to sentence Petitioner in accordance with the negotiated sentencing range of between seventeen (17) and twenty-eight (28) years on one of the five charges. Instead, the judge in sentencing stated, “Indictment 2014-1711 will be the controlling one. I’m sentencing you to 30 years but suspending that to 18. Now, what does that mean? It means simply this: As for that charge, you will serve 15.3 years’ time, and then you will be released, and part of the community -- I’ve written in, and I know I can’t control it, community supervision program, he must take all meds as prescribed. I’m sure that will be a condition, but I’m writing that in there specifically, and any treatment and counselling that is deemed necessary.” (App. p. 37, line 19 – p. 38, lines 1-4). The judge then discussed the consequences of violating the conditions. (App. p. 38, lines 5-14). The judge sentenced Petitioner to eighteen (18) years concurrent on the remaining four indictments. (App. p. 40, lines 8-9).

The judge asked plea counsel if he understood and plea counsel answered, “Yes, Your Honor, but did you mean to say 28 years rather than 30?” (App. p. 38, lines 16-17). The judge answered, “No. That’s why I asked you: Active time, I’m giving you what you want, your active time. I didn’t exceed 28 years. He only has exposure time now. That’s in his control. I don’t have anything to do with that. He’ll serve 15. That’s the only way I’ll accept that, because I’ve got the right to go to the maximum on one, and he’s going to serve 18 years.” (App. p. 38, lines 18-24). The negotiated sentencing range of between seventeen (17) and twenty-eight (28) years

did not address active time or a suspended sentence. The judge went on to state, “So no, I think I’ve complied with the negotiated sentence in every respect because all you talked about was how much active time he’s going to serve today, and how much time has he served? How much has he already served?” (App. p. 39, lines 17-21). The suspended sentence imposed by the judge on the one indictment did not comply with the negotiated sentencing range. If the judge was not able to accept the negotiated sentencing range, he should have allowed Petitioner to withdraw the guilty plea. Plea counsel failed to object. Plea counsel failed to move to withdraw the guilty plea. Plea counsel was deficient.

At the beginning of the PCR hearing PCR counsel told the judge, “He [Petitioner] is here now claiming to have an involuntary guilty plea as a result of his representation. So that is what we are going to focus on is the involuntariness of the guilty plea and that will be the sole issue that we will address today.” (App. p. 74, line 22 – p. 75, line 1). PCR counsel noted that the armed robbery statute does not allow a suspended sentence as imposed by the judge outside the negotiation. (App. p. 75, lines 8-11). The State asserted that if Petitioner was successful on an illegal sentence claim, then he would only be entitled to re-sentencing. (App. p. 78, lines 12-19). PCR counsel disagreed. (App. p. 79, lines 8-17). PCR counsel argued, “I think that he would be entitled to a new sentence but because this was a negotiation and there is some overlap with the sentence and the negotiations whether he is going to plead guilty or not or force the State to prove their burden of proof. Basically, he took a good deal. And I think that they are so intertwined at the State court level that if he is going to get that new sentence it would open up, subject him to all the charges all over again.” (App. p. 80, line 24 – p. 81, lines 1-8). The PCR judge disagreed with PCR counsel. (App. p. 81, line 9-10).

Plea counsel testified that Petitioner agreed to the guilty plea for a negotiated sentencing range because there was a possibility of a seventeen (17) year sentence. (App. p. 102, lines 13-20). Plea counsel also testified that Petitioner insisted that he wanted to go to trial prior to receiving the plea offer with a sentencing range of seventeen (17) to twenty-eight (28) years. (App. p. 102, lines 24-25). In closing PCR counsel argued, “But I do think there is some merit to the reversal based on the negotiated plea. I think Mr. Apicella’s [plea counsel’s] testimony was had he not had that 17 year negotiated plea he would not have pled guilty. That led him to pleading guilty and when he received that suspended sentence that violated the statute. And because it’s so intertwined I think he would be entitled to a trial on not only the case he pled to but it would also expose him to the other stuff. I understand the Court disagrees with that but I think that that has the most merit that he’s claiming.” (App. p. 116, lines 9-19).

At the end of the PCR hearing the PCR judge found, “ - - that Mr. Apicella [plea counsel] was indeed effective in his representation of the defendant.” (App. p. 119, lines 4-6). The PCR judge also said, “I’m going to ask that the Attorney General set forth in the order the colloquy between Judge Dennis and the defendant which sets forth that the plea was indeed voluntary.” (App. p. 120, lines 15 – 18). The PCR judge erred in failing to find that plea counsel’s failure to object and move to withdraw the plea when the plea judge went above the negotiated sentencing range constituted deficient performance. The guilty plea was rendered involuntary by counsel’s deficient performance.

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge wrote, “At the plea hearing, Applicant entered into a negotiated sentencing range of seventeen to twenty eight years based upon the charge of armed robbery. (Tr. p. 35). However, Applicant was sentenced to thirty years suspended upon the service of eighteen. (Tr. p. p. 37). As a matter of law, Applicant’ sentence for armed

robbery cannot be suspended. Accordingly, this Court finds Applicant is serving an illegal sentence. This Court finds the appropriate remedy is to vacate the sentence and afford Applicant a new sentencing hearing.” (App. p. 140). Granting Petitioner a new sentencing hearing was not the proper remedy when PCR counsel argued that the guilty plea was rendered involuntary. The PCR judge erred in refusing to find that the guilty plea was rendered involuntary, as argued by PCR counsel. (App. p. 74, line 22 – p. 75, line 1). The PCR judge erred in failing to find ineffective assistance of counsel in plea counsel’s failure to object and move to withdraw the plea when the plea judge went above the negotiated sentencing range. The guilty plea was rendered involuntary by counsel’s deficient performance. The remedy is a remand for a trial on all five charges, not a remand only for resentencing.

The present case is distinguished from Brooks v. State, 325 S.C. 269, 481 S.E.2d 712, (1997), where the Court found that the guilty plea was not rendered involuntary simply because the judge did not sentence in accordance with a plea agreement. Importantly, in Brooks the judge advised the defendant that he was facing a maximum of twenty-six years. In the present case the judge told Petitioner he was facing “. . . a concurrent sentence of no more than 28, no less than 18 on these seven – 17, excuse me, 17 years of these five; is that right?” (App. p. 15, line 23 – p. 16, line 1). The judge, however, sentenced Petitioner to thirty (30) years suspended on eighteen (18). Earlier the judge referenced active time. (App. p. 14, lines 3-13). The negotiation, however, did not distinguish active time from suspended time.

The present case is also distinguished from Roddy v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 528 S.E.2d 418, (2000), where the Court found that the guilty plea was not rendered involuntary because the judge did not order concurrent sentences in accordance with the plea agreement. In Roddy the Court found that the defendant was aware that he could receive consecutive rather than

concurrent sentences. In the present case the record fails to reflect that Petitioner was aware he could receive a thirty (30) year sentence provided that upon the service of eighteen (18) years with the balance suspended.

In Anderson v. State, 342 S.C. 54, 57, 535 S.E.2d 649, 651 (2000), the Court wrote:

The Due Process Clause requires guilty pleas be entered into voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.E.2d 274 (1969). Before a court can accept a guilty plea, a defendant must be advised of the constitutional rights he or she is waiving. In addition to the requirements of Boykin, a defendant entering a guilty plea must be aware of the nature and **crucial elements** of the offense, the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty, and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived. State v. Hazel, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980) (emphasis supplied); Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991).

Both Petitioner and plea counsel believed that the judge was bound to sentence within the negotiated sentencing range. When the judge went outside the sentencing range, plea counsel questioned the judge. (App. p. 38, lines 16-17). Plea counsel, however, failed to object and failed to move to withdraw the plea. The PCR judge erred in refusing to find that the guilty plea was rendered involuntary by plea counsel's failure to object and move to withdraw the plea when the plea judge refused to sentence in accordance with the negotiated sentencing range and instead sentenced Petitioner to an increased but suspended sentence.

PCR counsel did not file a notice of intent to appeal the PCR judge's order. As a result, on December 10, 2019, Petitioner filed a second PCR application requesting an "Austin hearing." (App. pp. 168-175). On January 10, 2020, while the request for a belated appeal from the PCR order was pending and prior to the State filing the return to the second PCR

application<sup>2</sup>, Petitioner appeared before the original sentencing judge, Judge Dennis, for re-sentencing pursuant to the PCR judge's order. (App. pp. 142-165). The case should not have been remanded for re-sentencing when the plea was rendered involuntary by plea counsel's failure to object and move to withdraw the plea based on the plea judge sentencing above the negotiated sentencing range. This Court should vacate the re-sentencing order as a nullity.

Judge Dennis re-sentenced Petitioner to twenty-eight (28) years, the maximum provided by the negotiated range, concurrent for all five indictments. (App. p. 166). While re-sentencing was not the proper remedy for any of the five indictments, re-sentencing was certainly not proper for the four eighteen-year sentences that were not suspended and not in violation of the statute. The new sentence increased the original sentence on these four indictments by ten years. The proper remedy on all five indictments was a remand for a new trial based on ineffective assistance of counsel rendering the guilty plea involuntary.

During the re-sentencing hearing Petitioner requested a jury trial. (App. p. 152, line 13). The re-sentencing judge responded, "All right. So you - - you can't have that option, okay; right now." (App. p. 152, lines 14-15).

In the re-sentencing order Judge Dennis wrote:

On January 10, 2020 the court convened a re-sentencing hearing. The defendant was present and represented by new counsel. Defense counsel argued that the court was constrained to sentence the defendant to 18 years' incarceration, in light of North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711 (1969). During the hearing, the defendant indicated that he did not want to be re-sentenced, but instead wanted to withdraw his prior guilty plea. Additionally, the defendant requested a jury trial on all of his charges. Defense counsel indicated to the court that he did not believe the court was authorized to grant defendant's request, given the procedural posture of the case. The State agreed.

---

<sup>2</sup> The State filed a return and motion to dismiss on February 22, 2021, over a year after Petitioner filed the second PCR application. (App. pp. 176-182).

(App. p. 166). During the PCR hearing the PCR judge asked, “- - - and we all understand that if he elects to go forward with the resentencing that he can get up to 28. Do we all understand that?” (App. p. 126, lines 3-5). PCR counsel and Petitioner both indicated that they understood. (App. p. 126, lines 6-11). Again, resentencing was not the proper remedy for a guilty plea rendered involuntary by ineffective assistance of counsel.

Judge Dennis additionally wrote in the re-sentencing order:

**The defendant shall serve a term of incarceration of 28 years on each of the above stated warrants, each sentence to be served concurrently, with credit for time served.**

The court is mindful of its responsibility pursuant to North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711 (1969), and hereby notes for the purposes of the appellate record that the prior negotiated plea and sentencing range was only accepted *because* the court intended to suspend a portion of the defendant’s sentence in order to ensure the defendant’s continued supervision after his release from state custody. Because such sentence is not permitted under the law as it stands, the court elects to sentence the defendant to the maximum term allowable under the terms of the negotiated plea.

(App. pp. 166-167).

This Court should vacate the re-sentencing order. First, as discussed above, re-sentencing, was not the proper remedy for a guilty plea rendered involuntary by ineffective assistance of counsel. Second, while the re-sentencing judge cites North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711 (1969), in the order, the purported reasons for the harsher sentence fail to overcome the Pearce presumption resulting in a violation of Due Process. Again, if the judge could not accept the negotiated range, he should not have accepted the plea. The reason given for acceptance of the plea but outside the negotiated sentencing range was to ensure continued supervision after release from custody does not withstand scrutiny when the judge was aware Petitioner would be on community supervision upon release from custody. (App. p. 37, line 21 – p. 38, lines 1-4). The reason given does not justify increasing the sentence from thirty (30) years, provided upon

the service of eighteen (18) years with the balance suspended to a twenty-eight (28) year sentence. The reason given does not justify increasing the sentences on the other four indictments from eighteen (18) years to twenty-eight (28) years. Although Petitioner dropped his appeal of the re-sentencing order, as part of the Austin review this Court should vacate the re-sentencing order as a nullity.

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