**RECEIVED**

**Aug 28 2024**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Commons Pleas  
Appeal from Charleston County  
Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2023-001091

---

ANTONIO SIMMONS,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
PURSUANT TO AUSTIN V. STATE**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR judge did not err by declining to grant a new trial to Simmons because Simmons’s guilty pleas were validly and voluntarily entered and were not—and could not have been—retroactively rendered involuntary by defense counsel’s failure to object to the sentence imposed, by defense counsel’s failure to move for the guilty pleas to be withdrawn, or by anything else.**

### Standard of Review

In PCR cases, the standard of review to be applied on appeal is directly dependent on the specific issues raised. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). When reviewing a PCR judge’s factual findings on appeal, the appellate court will defer to those findings and uphold them if they are supported by any evidence of probative value appearing in the record. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016); see Buckson v. State, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018) (“Under the proper standard of review, the appellate court’s ‘view’ must be limited to whether there is probative evidence to support the PCR court’s factual findings.”). Meanwhile, when reviewing a pure question of law, an appellate court will consider such a matter de novo and is not required to give deference to the PCR judge’s rulings. Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014). Moreover, when conducting such an analysis in the context of a PCR appeal involving a guilty plea issue, the appellate court will consider the entire record, including the transcript from the guilty plea hearing and the evidence presented at the PCR hearing, because the voluntariness of a guilty plea must be determined from an examination of the record as a whole. Roddy v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 33, 528 S.E.2d 418, 420-421 (2000); see State v. Tucker, 376 S.C. 412, 419, 656 S.E.2d 403, 407 (Ct. App. 2008) (“An appellate court will review the totality of the circumstances to discern if a plea was entered into knowingly and intelligently.”). Ultimately, if

the PCR judge's decision is controlled by an error of law, an appellate court will reverse that decision on appeal. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

### **Law Regarding the Voluntariness of a Guilty Plea**

As has long been recognized, guilty pleas and plea bargains are important components of our nation's—and state's—criminal justice system. Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 71 (1977). Such pleas provide significant benefits to all involved, including by allowing defendants to obtain speedy disposition of their cases and by allowing both courts and prosecutors to conserve limited resources. Id. Critically though, the benefits of a guilty plea can only truly be secured “if dispositions by guilty plea are accorded a great measure of finality.” Id. In light of that, “[f]ew principles of South Carolina criminal law are as ingrained as the notion that a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent guilty plea constitutes a waiver of nonjurisdictional defects and claims of violations of constitutional rights.” State v. Sims, 423 S.C. 397, 400, 814 S.E.2d 632, 633 (Ct. App. 2018) (citation and internal quotations omitted).

For a guilty plea to be knowing, voluntary, and intelligent, all that is required is: (1) the defendant must have a sufficient understanding of the nature and crucial elements of the charges, the consequences of the plea, and the constitutional rights being waived; and (2) the record must reflect a factual basis for the plea. Rollison v. State, 346 S.C. 506, 511, 552 S.E.2d 290, 292 (2001); see Anderson v. State, 342 S.C. 54, 57, 535 S.E.2d 649, 651 (2000) (“[A] defendant entering a guilty plea must be aware of the nature and crucial elements of the offense, the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty, and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived.” (emphasis removed)); Simpson v. State, 317 S.C. 506, 508, 455 S.E.2d 175, 176 (1995) (“To knowingly and voluntarily enter a plea of guilty, all that is required is that a defendant have a full understanding of the consequences of the plea and the charges against him.”).

Significantly though, “the Constitution, in respect to a defendant’s awareness of relevant circumstances, does *not* require complete knowledge of the relevant circumstances, but permits a court to accept a guilty plea, with its accompanying waiver of various constitutional rights, despite various forms of misapprehension under which a defendant might labor.” United States v. Ruiz, 536 U.S. 622, 630 (2002) (emphasis added). In the end, “[t]he longstanding test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant.” McMillian v. State, 383 S.C. 480, 485, 680 S.E.2d 905, 907 (citation and internal quotations omitted).

#### **Law Applicable to Ineffective Assistance of Plea Counsel Claims**

In every criminal case tried in South Carolina, the defendant has a constitutional right to a fair trial. State v. Woods, 345 S.C. 583, 587, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001). Pursuant to that right, the defendant is entitled to effective assistance of counsel. McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 n. 14 (1970). However, that does not mean entitlement to perfect or mistake-free representation. Burt v. Titlow, 571 U.S. 12, 24 (2013). Instead, it simply means assistance that was objectively reasonable under prevailing professional norms. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-688 (1984). Meanwhile, counsel’s assistance is considered constitutionally ineffective only when “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Id. at 686.

When faced with a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a reviewing court must conduct a two-pronged analysis. Franklin v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 563, 570, 552 S.E.2d 718, 722 (2001). Pursuant to that two-pronged analysis, an applicant must establish: (1) counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the proceeding would have been different but for counsel’s deficient

performance. Williams v. State, 363 S.C. 341, 343, 611 S.E.2d 232, 233 (2005). Thus, the applicant has the heavy burden of establishing both deficiency and prejudice in order to be entitled to relief. Hughes v. State, 346 S.C. 554, 558, 552 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2001).

Regarding the deficiency prong of the analysis, the proper measure of performance is whether counsel provided representation within the objectively reasonable range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). To establish deficiency, the applicant must demonstrate “counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. Thus, counsel’s performance will be considered deficient only when it objectively amounted to incompetence under prevailing professional norms and not when it simply “deviated from best practices or most common custom.” Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 105 (2011).

Beyond satisfying the burden required by the deficiency prong, an applicant also bears the burden of establishing prejudice in order to be entitled to relief as “[a]n error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. For that burden to be met, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant to such an extent there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different but for counsel’s unprofessional errors. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Moreover, “[t]he likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.” Richter, 562 U.S. at 112; see Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694 (“A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.”).

Furthermore, when an applicant is raising a challenge to a guilty plea predicated upon an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the same two-pronged analysis remains applicable. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58 (1985). “In the context of a guilty plea, the deficiency prong inquiry turns on whether the plea was voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered.” Taylor v. State, 404 S.C. 350, 360, 745 S.E.2d 97, 102 (2013). Meanwhile, to establish prejudice in the context of a guilty plea, the applicant must demonstrate there was a reasonable probability the applicant would not have pled guilty and, instead, would have insisted on going to trial but for plea counsel’s errors. Hill, 474 U.S. at 59; see Jones v. State, 333 S.C. 6, 8, 507 S.E.2d 324, 325 (1998) (“A defendant who pleads guilty on the advice of counsel may collaterally attack the plea only by showing that (1) counsel was ineffective and (2) there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel’s errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty.”). Significantly, due to the finality interests at stake, caution must be exercised before a guilty plea is set aside in a case in which a proper plea colloquy was conducted. Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 468-469, 765 S.E.2d 123, 129 (2014).

#### **Application of the Pertinent Law to Simmons’s Case**

In the case sub judice, Simmons contends the PCR judge reversibly erred by declining to grant him a new trial during his first PCR action. As support for that contention, Simmons asserts the sentence he originally received—a term of imprisonment of thirty years suspended to eighteen years of “active time”—did not fall within the negotiated sentencing range of seventeen to twenty-eight years that had been agreed upon by the parties. And, based on that, Simmons maintains his defense counsel’s performance was constitutionally ineffective because defense counsel neither objected to the sentence imposed nor moved to withdraw the guilty pleas following the imposition of the sentence. Furthermore, Simmons maintains resentencing—

which he has, in fact, now obtained and which has resulted in him now having an aggregate sentence falling squarely within the negotiated sentencing limits—was not the appropriate remedy for what occurred in his case because “PCR counsel argued that the guilty plea was rendered involuntary.” (App’x p. 8). Thus, Simmons now appears to be contending his voluntarily-entered guilty pleas were somehow *retroactively* rendered involuntary by how he was subsequently sentenced and by defense counsel’s response—or lack thereof—to the sentence imposed. Contrary to those contentions, the PCR judge correctly declined to grant Simmons a new trial because Simmons’s guilty pleas were, in fact, voluntarily entered, and Simmons suffered no prejudice from defense counsel’s actions—even if they were somehow deficient—because Simmons has since been resentenced to a term of imprisonment falling within the agreed-upon sentencing range.<sup>11</sup>

Initially, demonstrating the voluntariness of Simmons’s guilty pleas, Simmons was aware of everything he needed to be aware of to be able to enter valid guilty pleas prior to entering his. Specifically, as reflected in the record, he knew and understood the nature of the charges to which he was pleading guilty, including the potential penalties that could be imposed—both in general and in light of the plea agreement that had been reached—for those offenses. Likewise,

---

<sup>11</sup> Moreover, because Simmons’s current appellate arguments are *very* different from the arguments actually identified in Simmons’s PCR applications, raised at the evidentiary hearing, and ruled upon by the PCR judge, Simmons’s current arguments do not appear to be properly preserved for appellate review. See Mangal v. State, 421 S.C. 85, 97, 805 S.E.2d 568, 574 (2017) (recognizing issue preservation requirements apply in the context of PCR cases, instructing there are *some* situations in which the interests of justice require a court to be “flexible” with those requirements in a PCR case, and declining to excuse Mangal’s procedural default since the issue he wanted addressed was not properly raised or supported); see also State v. Williams, 439 S.C. 620, 623, 889 S.E.2d 562, 563 (2023) (emphasizing appellate courts are courts of review as opposed to of first view and declining to consider a matter “[t]he trial court never had the chance to consider” when conducting appellate review); cf. Fishburne v. State, 427 S.C. 505, 518, 832 S.E.2d 584, 590 (2019) (Hearn, J., concurring) (“[I]n most instances where a party fails to file a Rule 59(e) motion when required to do so, we will find the issue unpreserved and decline to address the merits.”).

Simmons—who had preexisting experience with the criminal justice system—confirmed he understood all the constitutional rights he was waiving by pleading guilty along with the “major benefit” he was receiving by virtue of entering his guilty pleas.<sup>12</sup> Furthermore, there was unquestionably a factual basis for the offenses to which Simmons pled guilty, and Simmons personally affirmed to the plea judge on several different occasions during the plea colloquy he was truly guilty of the armed robberies.<sup>13</sup> See Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 73-74 (1977) (“[T]he representations of the defendant, his lawyer, and the prosecutor at [a guilty plea] hearing, as well as any findings made by the judge accepting the plea, constitute a formidable barrier in any subsequent collateral proceedings. Solemn declarations in open court carry a strong presumption of verity.”). And, after all that was established, Simmons directly confirmed he wanted the plea judge to accept his guilty pleas, and only then did the plea judge do so.

Under such circumstances, Simmons knew of and confirmed all that was necessary for him to be able to validly plead guilty. See Rollison, 346 S.C. at 511, 552 S.E.2d at 292 (“All that is required before a plea can be accepted is that the defendant understand the nature and crucial elements of the charges, the consequences of the plea, and the constitutional rights he is waiving, and that the record reflect a factual basis for the plea.”); Roddy, 339 S.C. at 34, 528 S.E.2d at 421 (“In order for a defendant to knowingly and voluntarily plead guilty, he must have a full understanding of the consequences of the plea. . . . Defendant’s knowing and voluntary waiver of statutory or constitutional rights must be established by a complete record, and may be accomplished by colloquy between court and defendant, between court and defendant’s counsel,

---

<sup>12</sup> During the plea hearing, the solicitor noted Simmons had past convictions for a number of different offenses. (App’x p. 8).

<sup>13</sup> Indeed, Simmons at one point expressly acknowledged there was “no question” he was guilty. (App’x p. 26).

or both.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)). As a result, Simmons’s guilty pleas were voluntary and valid ones, and, critically, that remained true regardless of whether the manner in which the plea judge structured Simmons’s sentence did or did not violate the terms of the plea agreement, which was something that potentially could have constituted an error requiring a remedy—like the one Simmons has since obtained by virtue of being resentenced—but was *not* something that impacted the voluntariness of the already-entered guilty pleas. See Puckett v. United States, 556 U.S. 129, 137 (2009) (explaining “it is entirely clear that a breach [of a plea agreement] does not cause the guilty plea, when entered, to have been unknowing or involuntary” and instructing there is nothing to support the proposition a breach of a plea agreement “retroactively causes the defendant’s agreement to have been unknowing or involuntary”); cf. United States v. Collins, 986 F.3d 1029, 1034 (7th Cir. 2021) (“[B]ecause any breach occurred at sentencing, nothing can establish that the Government’s breach of a plea agreement retroactively caused the defendant’s agreement to have been unknowing or involuntary.” (citation, brackets, and internal quotations omitted)).

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